

Original Research Article

Cash-based assistance and nutritional outcomes among refugee children 0-59 months in West Nile Sub-region in Uganda.

Abstract

Cash-based transfer and food in-kind assistance are two different modalities used to deliver assistance to conflict-affected populations. The use of cash has become a common modality of assistance in humanitarian response given its benefits. In Uganda, WFP has increased the use of cash-based transfers to refugees and asylum seekers. Despite the assistance, the prevalence of malnutrition remains high among refugee children in West Nile. This study, therefore, examined the effect of cash-based assistance on nutritional outcomes among children 0-59 months in refugee settlements of West Nile in Uganda. Specifically, the paper aimed at assessing the nutritional status of children aged 0-59 months on cash-based transfer modality and the influence of other factors such as the education level of caregivers, cultural/traditional norms, food storage, food preparation, and child feeding practices, access to markets, and nutrition knowledge on cash-based transfer and nutritional outcomes among children 0-59 months. A descriptive design was deployed to obtain data from 122 respondents. ANOVA and Pearson's chi-square tests, and anthropometric measurements from mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC), weight-for-age (WAZ), height-for-age (HAZ), and weight-for-height (WHZ) were taken to assess the physical growth and nutritional status of children aged 0-59 months expressed as a percentage.

The study's findings revealed that 31.12% of caregivers of children 0-59 months received cash assistance of between 19,000 to 24,000 with significant variation in proportions between the districts at a P-value of 0.005. Of that, 92.62% of caregivers received cash assistance every two months compared to only 7.38% who received cash monthly at a P-value of 0.130. The study findings showed that there is no significant effect of cash assistance on the nutritional outcomes among children under five years as confirmed by the moderate underweight prevalence of 12.96% ($P=0.1714$), low stunting level of 15.19% ($P=0.0571$) below <20% WHO cut off and moderate wasting prevalence of 6.67% at P-value of 0.0634. The underweight and wasting prevalences are above <10% and <5% WHO threshold respectively. Although these discrepancies in the prevalences of underweight, wasting, and stunting are not statistically significant, the results show a low prevalence of underweight, stunting, and wasting. Thus, the null hypothesis is accepted. This, there is no adequate evidence that cash assistance has a statistically significant association with nutritional outcomes among children under five years in refugee settlements. Concerning nutritional knowledge, food storage, and child-feeding practices of caregivers of children 0-59 months, 62.24% of caregivers had poor nutrition knowledge, 93.62% of caregivers had basic food storage facilities for keeping food and 69.29% had good child-feeding practices.

Conclusively, these findings showed that the prevalence of underweight, stunting, and wasting as nutritional outcomes are generally low among refugee children 0-59 months on cash assistance modality therefore, humanitarian agencies should increase cash-based assistance and food security and livelihood interventions be scale up to improve household food basket.

Key words: Cash transfer modality; nutrition status/outcomes; Children

Comment [A1]: Wouldn't nutritional status and food characteristics be more adequate?

Comment [A2]: Full name

Comment [A3]:

Comment [A4]: The number of interviewees was 392 caregivers or 122? Explain the samples better.

Comment [A5]: Whoever answered, Would not caregivers be more appropriate?

Comment [A6]: which currency?

Comment [A7]: Full name

1.0 Introduction

The refugee situation in Africa has increasingly burdened the continent and with increasing numbers of refugees, many donors and aid agencies globally are shifting away from food aid to food assistance because of the need to include the provision of cash in humanitarian assistance (de Bruin & Becker, 2019; Adepoju, 2017; Harvey *et al.*, 2010). Cash transfer and food in-kind, are two different modalities used by WFP to deliver assistance to people affected by conflicts (WFP, 2016). Although all refugees receive food assistance upon arrival, however, in some settlements, they are later transferred to cash (the Development Pathways, 2018). According to a report by European Commission, (2020), more than 35% of the humanitarian aid is given to refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) in the form of cash for example debit cards, mobile transfers, and cash in hand. Refugees have the option to be on cash transfer or receive a dry food ration (European Commission, 2013). Cash transfer programme (CTP) is a new growing humanitarian assistance modality that has the potential to provide beneficiaries with choice and improve local market capacities including engaging the private sector and empowering the communities (WHO Western Pacific Region, 2018; The World Bank Group, 2016). There is an increased preference for the use of cash in emergencies by donors like WFP (WFP, 2017b, 2021). Cash transfer for refugees is receiving increasing attention due to its contribution to alleviating abject poverty (Delius & Sterck, 2020). Cash transfer generally involves giving money to refugee households to meet their basic needs for food and non-food items (ECHO, 2013). In conflict situations, cash-based interventions (CBIs) are used instead of food because it is associated with improving the wealth of beneficiaries and food security although with no evidence of CBI impacting nutritional outcomes (Grijalva *et al.*, 2018). Cash assistance has huge benefits to households and the community, and the transaction costs of cash distributions are substantially lower than those of food (Peppiat *et al.*, 2001). Cash is preferred to in-kind transfers because it offers the opportunity to make choices on what to use the cash for (Hidrobo *et al.*, 2012). Cash distribution can also stimulate agricultural production and non-agricultural activities by shifting out the demand curve for these items.

Comment [A8]: Full name and acronym

In Uganda, the decision to include cash transfer assistance in refugee response and implement it on a pilot basis was taken during the 2013 agreement between WFP, UNHCR, and the Office of the Prime Minister (WFP, 2016b). Uganda has already an ongoing strategy for scaling up cash transfers to the refugees (UNHCR, 2019). In support of Uganda's refugee model, many of the refugees are on cash transfer programs and integrated within the host community. Globally, WFP is increasingly using cash and vouchers as a means of ensuring that people can meet their essential food needs (WFP, 2023). Over the past decade, WFP has increased its use of cash-based transfers (CBT) to assist persons who are food insecure (WFP, 2019). Cash benefits proved nearly five times less expensive to deliver than food baskets for example each cash transfer costs WFP \$5.22, and each food transfer costs \$11.50 (Schwab *et al.*, 2013). The cash grants significantly contribute to improving refugee well-being and most refugees prefer cash transfers because it offers the opportunity to make choices on what they need (Masterson, 2016). Cash transfers (CTs) for affected populations significantly contribute to improving food diversity and diets including access, availability, stability, and utilization (FAO, 2012). MacPherson & Sterck, (2021) found that cash and voucher support for refugees led to improved dietary intake as compared to in-kind food because cash/voucher recipients had a range of choices to make on what foods to buy with the cash received. However, the capacity of markets to respond to cash or voucher-based transfers is a fundamental driver of WFP supply chain activities (WFP, 2022). Accessibility to markets is a pre-requisite for the introduction of cash-based transfer in refugee response. Evidence has shown that in Uganda, cash transfers increased children's consumption of starches, and dairy by 66%, and meat and eggs by 100%, whereas food had no impact on the frequency of consumption of any of the food groups

Comment [A9]: Full name and acronym

Formatted: Font color: Red

(Bailey, 2013). The roll-out of cash transfers to refugees has widened the ability to access varieties of food, even when the markets are not fully developed to provide various foodstuffs. With the increasing use of cash in humanitarian response, there is a need to know how cash-based intervention contributes to reducing acute malnutrition among children 0-59 months (Grijalva et al., 2018).

Food assistance activities including cash, and food vouchers, have the potential to successfully address nutrition needs among vulnerable individuals (Green et al., 2020). Both cash amounts and food rations have been cut to more than 1.4 million vulnerable refugees in Uganda due to insufficient funding (WFP, 2020; M.A. et al., 2008). The reduction in cash assistance for refugees worsened by the high prices of food commodities has made the majority of refugees unable to eat 3 meals per day. Although there is evidence and considered best practice documentation to demonstrate the benefit of cash transfers and vouchers, there is less evidence demonstrating the impact specifically on nutrition outcomes (Global Nutrition cluster, 2017). Despite the challenges related to market access, the roll-out of cash assistance to refugees has increased their ability to access a variety of foods (Guli et al., 2023). Cash transfer modality roll-out is aimed at empowering and making refugees self-reliant and improving household food baskets. However, scanty information exists on how cash transfers influence nutritional outcomes.

Refugee populations are vulnerable in terms of available nutrients and refugees face several nutritional challenges during their journey (Amstutz et al., 2020; Carrara et al., 2017). Bezatu M, (2014a), states that most children growing up in poor households for example in refugee settings suffer from undernutrition, which undermines their growth, and ability to learn and makes them more prone to illnesses. Globally, about 45% of deaths in children under 5 years, is due to undernutrition, and acute and chronic undernutrition in children remain global issues of public health significance including Uganda Doocy, Tappis, et al., 2011b; Office of the Prime Minister of Uganda, 2019; Ronald & Southall, 1999). Good nutrition is essential for human health and survival (Grijalva-Eternod et al., 2012). Most recent estimates indicate that globally there are **52 million children under 5 years who are wasted, with 17 million severely wasted, and of these, 26.9% are in Sub-Saharan Africa (UNICEF, 2017)**. Africa has made the least progress in reducing stunting prevalence since 2012 (UNHCR, 2017). While Uganda still faces numerous undernutrition and overnutrition challenges, malnutrition, and poor health are significant risks for young children's populations (Galloway, 2017; UNHCR, 2017b), increases a child's risk of morbidity, and contributes to child deaths in less-developed settings (House et al., 2002; Lean, 2015; Simelane & Worth, 2020). According to (House et al., 2002), underweight, overweight, and micronutrient deficiencies indicate malnutrition. With routine monthly cash distribution for refugees, malnutrition remains still a big challenge in the settlements for health partners to struggle with.

A report by UBOS et al., (2019), indicated that children below five years were 24% stunted in 10 districts of Northern Uganda, with 10% to 20% stunting prevalence in districts of Adjumani, Kole, Moyo, Omoro, and Otuke, while between 20 and 30 percent stunting prevalence was found in Nebbi, Pader, Yumbe, and Koboko districts. Further, Wanzira et al., (2018), found 10.4% of children had moderate acute malnutrition and 5.6% had severe acute malnutrition Arua district, higher than the national estimates of 3.6% for moderate and 1.3% for severe acute malnutrition. Inadequate diets, poor food quality, and severe or repeated diseases lead to nutritional deficiencies which undermine the health, growth, and development of children (Iffat Iddris, 2020; UNICEF., 2019; Krishnamani, 2015; WHO, 1997, 2015c; GoU, 2011). Unfamiliarity with available local foods and socioeconomic factors contribute to nutritional problems among children (Amanda, et al, 2010;

Formatted: Font color: Red

Comment [A10]: The reference is missing from the list of references and there is more recent data

Formatted: Font color: Red

Aguayo & Morris, 2020). Stunting, underweight, and wasting are significant nutrition problems in children while low education levels of mothers/caregivers and poor weaning practices are associated with malnutrition among children below five years (Aliyu, & Hassan, 2019). The prevalence of stunting significantly reduces if the level of education of mothers and caregivers is high (UBOS, 2017; Mensah & Snodgrass, 2012). Caregivers' or mothers' knowledge of nutrition influences childcaring practices including food handling and preparation. High nutritional knowledge is very essential in promoting good nutrition and preventing malnutrition, especially in children, and usually, caregivers of children who have a low level of education pay less attention to nutrition education (Forh et al., 2022). Other than food intake and health, the caregivers' behaviors and childcaring practices greatly influence child survival, growth, and development (Motebejana et al., 2022). As stated by (Chege & Kuria, 2017), poor feeding practices have been associated with low caregivers' nutritional knowledge, and lack of nutritional knowledge on child feeding among caregivers contributes significantly to poor dietary practices of children under-five years of age. Child malnutrition is associated with inadequate and inappropriate complementary foods, poor nutrition knowledge of mothers/child caretakers, and poor caregiver practices (Nabugoomu et al., 2015).

Malnutrition in children is common among caregivers who have low levels of nutrition education. Inadequate maternal education and nutritional knowledge among caregivers have been noted as a major cause of unhealthy dietary habits for children (Chege & Kuria, 2017). Nutritional knowledge of caregivers is a determinant of the type and quality of diet provided to the children. Nutrition education has been linked to improved child feeding and nutritional status. The presence of underweight, overweight, and micronutrient deficiencies indicates malnutrition, which can result in adverse health outcomes and reduced quality of life (Galloway, 2017; House et al., 2002). Adequate food consumption of food by populations affected by conflict is required to ensure proper nutrition (European Commission, 2013). As an approach used to build resilience, cash-based transfers (CTs) are used to restore livelihoods by promoting agricultural production in times of disaster, conflict, and economic shock (FAO, 2012). Cash distribution can stimulate agricultural production and non-agricultural activities by shifting out the demand curve for these items. Cash assistance was adopted in humanitarian programs due to the various benefits it brings to the recipients and the local economy. Based on the increasing use of cash-based assistance in humanitarian programs and the need to know its impact, this paper, therefore, assessed the effect of cash-based assistance provided to refugees on the nutritional outcomes in children 0-59 months in refugee settlements of West Nile Subregion in Uganda.

Comment [A11]: CT is cash-based transfers or cash transfers

2.0 Methodology

a. The Study design

This was a cross-sectional study employing a mixed-method approach and using both qualitative and quantitative approaches. The study was carried out in the refugee settlements of Adjumani and Obongi districts in West Nile Sub-region of Uganda because these districts host the largest number of refugees and asylum seekers. Adjumani refugee hosting district is located in the north-western part of Uganda, between latitudes 31° 24' and 32° 4' E and longitudes 2° 53' and 3° 37' N (Adjumani District Development Plan, 2015). The district has fifteen refugee settlements which include Mirieyi, Olua 2, Ayilo 1, Ayilo 2, Boroli, Alere/Olji, Baratuku/Eloma, Nyumanzi, Maaji 1, Maaji 3, Agojo, Maaji 2, Mungula 1, Mungula 2, Pagirinya, however, the study was conducted in six refugee settlements out of fifteen which include Ayilo 1, Alere/Olji, Nyumanzi, Maaji 3, Mungula 1, and Pagirinya. While Obongi refugee hosting district is found in the north-western part of Uganda, between latitudes 31° 30' and 31° 45' E and longitudes 3° 30' and 3° 15' N, has four (40) refugee settlements which include Chinyi (Zone 1), Ibakwe (Base Camp Zone), Dongo East (Zone 2) and

Dongo West (Zone 3). In Obongi, the study was conducted in 3 settlements namely Zone 1), Zone and Base Camp Zone. As, of April 2020, Adjumani district had 223,785 refugees (29,710 HHs) and 125,617 refugees (28,810 HHs) were in Obongi district (UNHCR, 2020b; UNHCR, 2021). Both food and cash assistance modalities are implemented in Adjumani and Obongi districts. The major economic activities in these districts include among others subsistence agriculture, cattle rearing, fishing, charcoal burning, stone quarrying, sand excavation, and trading in small businesses. Hence, reliable data can be obtained from refugees in the two districts which can be generalized to inform improvements in humanitarian assistance.

b. Materials and Methods

The study focused on the impact of cash-based assistance on the nutritional status of refugee children 0-59 months in Adjumani and Obongi refugee hosting districts in West Nile refugee settlements in Uganda. The study specifically assessed the nutritional status of children aged 0-59 months whose caregivers were on cash assistance modality and examined the influence of other factors on cash-based transfer and nutritional outcomes among children under five years. To obtain information and draw conclusions on whether cash-based assistance influenced the nutritional status of children 0-59 months, the study used a mixed-method research approach employing both qualitative and quantitative methods as proposed by Bryman et al. (1996) and Wilson and Marlino (2005). Based on Yamane's (1967:886) simplified formula for calculating sample size, of $n = N/1+N(e)^2$, where n = sample size (392), population size (20,347), and e = level of precision or significance (0.05), with a 95% confidence level, giving a sample size of $n = 20,347/1+20,347 (0.05)^2 = 392$. A total of 392 respondents and 61 key informants were interviewed. However, out of 392 respondents, only 122 respondents were receiving cash-based assistance, and 270 of them were on food-in-kind assistance. Three (3) survey questionnaires were used to obtain primary data from children less than 6 months, children 6-59 months and caregivers of children 0-59 months mainly the household head and mother or caregivers receiving cash assistance while semi-structured survey questionnaire (containing both closed and open-ended questions) was used to collect the qualitative data from the key informants which included the implementing partners, UN agencies (WFP, UNHCR), and district authorities (LCV, CAO, S/C, LCIII, CDOs, and refugee desk officers). Focus group discussion (FGD) was done using a FGD guide with small groups of 10 to 12 members (refuge welfare committees, cash management committees, nutrition groups/clubs) to gather their experiences and views on cash assistance and how they think it influenced the nutritional status of their children as proposed by Creswell, (2014). Responses were received from 392 caregivers with their children representing a 100% response rate for questionnaire instruments and anthropometric tools respectively. Out of 392 responses, 122 responses were received from caregivers on cash-based assistance modality and their children. For qualitative, responses were received from 44 respondents out of a target of 61 respondents, which represents a 72.1% response rate. The overall response rate was 96.3% (436 responses received out of 453 target respondents) which is higher than what was prior advanced by Mundy (2002).

Research tools were reviewed by peers and supervisors for face validity before interviews were conducted and the questionnaires were also pre-tested to test their validity using a section of respondents in one of the settlements as supported by Bezatu, (2014c). The research assistants were trained for 3 days on the study scope, data collection components, and study procedures which included data collection techniques and instruments, administration of informed consent forms, maintenance of confidentiality, anonymity and privacy, respect for research participants, and observance of principles of beneficence and non-maleficence throughout the research study. Informed consent forms and research tools were translated into different local languages spoken by

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [A12]: Full name

Comment [A13]: Repeated

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

the respondents mainly Bari, Dinka, and Arabic. Observation and documentary review of methods of data collection were used to collect qualitative information. Children's nutrition status was also observed and triangulated with information obtained from the anthropometric measurements and health facility data. The anthropometric measurement tools were used for collecting anthropometric information on mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC), weight, and height of children 0-59 months to assess the physical growth and nutritional status of the children aged 0-59 months expressed as a percentage. Weighing scales, height boards, and MUAC tapes were used for measuring weight, height, and MUAC respectively. Non-stretchable MUAC tapes of MOH/WHO were used for the measurement of MUAC of children to the nearest 0.1 cm and weight was recorded using a digital weighing scale. Weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg in light indoor clothing and with bare feet or stockings, using a portable standard calibrated digital weighing scale, and height was measured, without shoes, to the nearest 0.1 cm using a portable height board. Quantitative data collected was coded and reviewed for quality, accuracy, consistency, and completeness and analyzed using STAT 18.0 as suggested by Aliyu, (2015). The analyzed data was used to present descriptive statistics about the agricultural inputs support and nutritional outcomes. Notes were generated from the analyzed data to create meaning for the readers and generalization of the analyzed data was made based on the prevalence levels of malnutrition concerning the access to the agricultural inputs. Qualitative data collected through interviews, focus groups, observation, or review of documents was edited and imported into Open Code 4.02 through rich text format and categorized into themes and contents using mother and child nodes, from where interpretation and meanings are generated. Concerning participant's responses on themes like access to land, access to farm tools, and access to seeds, the researcher recorded their responses in their own words. General conclusions were made based on the responses obtained about the themes of the study.

4.0. Results

4.1 Cash-based transfers to caregivers of children 0-59 months.

The cash assistance modality was adopted by humanitarian agencies to shift away from food in-kind assistance since it is the cost of distributing cash is lower than food and cash is associated with many benefits. The study findings showed that out of the 392 respondents, 31.12% of caregivers of children 0-59 months received cash assistance with 81.58% of caregivers in Adjumani district and 26.13% of caregivers in Obongi refugee settlements at a P-value of 0.000 receiving cash as compared to 68.88% of caregivers on food assistance modality. Out of those who received cash assistance as a form of humanitarian food assistance, 41% of caregivers received cash assistance of between 19,000 to 24,000 per person based on WFP ration cards while 28% of caregivers of children reported having got less than 19,000 Uganda shillings monthly per person and those who received cash of 25,000 Uganda shillings and above constituted 44% based on the household size, with different proportions between Adjumani and Obongi districts at $P=0.005$. This variation in distribution is, however, statistically significant. Concerning cash distribution pattern, 92.62% of caregivers received cash assistance every two months and only 7.38% received cash assistance monthly at a P-value of $0.130 > 0.05$. Although the emphasis by humanitarian agencies is to shift away from providing dry food assistance to cash-based assistance, enrollment in the cash transfer modality is very low. This implies that the majority of refugees prefer food in-kind assistance to cash-based assistance probably because the cash assistance provided is very little, there is limited food in the market for sale and the prices of food commodities are extremely high.

The results further showed that the majority (58.82%) of children aged 0-59 months that took part in the study were females and 41.18% were males while 54.02% of children were in age of 24-59 months and only 45.98% of them were in age category of between 0-23 months. About the breast

Comment [A14]: And nutritional status?

Comment [A15]: 122?

Comment [A16]: What is the unit? Uganda shillings ?

feeding of babies immediately after birth by their mothers who received cash assistance, 72.95% of children were breastfed immediately after birth and 27.05% of the children were not breastfed immediately after birth. Based on the anthropometric measurements, 4.10% of the children 0-59 months were severely malnourished with MUAC of <11.5 cm and 1.10% of them had moderate malnutrition having MUAC of 11.5 to <12.5 cm as per WHO classification with significant variation in proportions between the districts at a P-value of 0.035. The majority of children were normal (Not malnourished), with MUAC of more than 12.5cm. This implies children with MUAC less than 115 mm (having severe malnutrition) have a high risk of death or mortality compared to those who are moderately malnourished (MUAC of 11.5 to <12.5 cm). The results demonstrate that malnutrition in children remains a challenge for the humanitarian program, hence the need to scale up community preventive services and curative nutrition services to increase access to nutrition sensitive services for refugees and to avert morbidity and mortality due to malnutrition.

Comment [A17]: suggestion: within the WHO normality standard or within the normality curve

4.2 Purchased foods by the cash beneficiaries

Cash beneficiaries are expected to buy food from the market with money received. It was observed that most cash beneficiaries purchase the same food distributed to the refugees on food assistance modality since there are inadequate food commodities in the market and food prices are high. Access to a variety of foods and high food prices remain a challenge for many refugees. The findings of the study in Table 1 below revealed that the majority of beneficiaries (46.72%) bought cereals mainly maize, and sorghum, 35.25% purchased pulses (beans, peas) and vegetables (green vegetables, cabbages) while a small percentage of cash beneficiaries accessed other types of food like fish, tubers (cassava, sweet potatoes), oils and salt. This result indicates that cash beneficiaries buy mostly the same types of food distributed to refugees who are on food in-kind assistance modality however, access to food is dependent on availability in the market, food prices, and preference of one food item over another by the beneficiaries. Cereals, pulses, vegetables, and fish were easily accessed by many cash beneficiaries probably because refugees cultivate such crops and the abundance of fish in the markets due to the proximity to river Nile and many other streams/rivers transversing the West Nile region. The rivers and streams possess plenty of fish and there are no restrictions on fishing activities for refugees. See Table 1 below for details of the proportions of distribution among the districts.

Table 1: Purchased foods by the cash beneficiaries (n=122)

Purchased Foods	Overall Freq.	Percent	Adjumani %	District Obongi %	P-value
Cereals (maize, millet, sorghum etc)	57	46.72	51.61	31.03	0.052
Pulses (beans, peas etc)	43	35.25	41.94	13.79	0.006
Fish	41	33.61	26.88	55.17	0.005
Okra	18	14.75	3.23	51.72	0.000
Vegetables (green vegetables, cabbages)	43	35.25	38.71	24.14	0.152
Tubers (cassava, sweet potatoes etc)	12	9.84	10.75	6.90	0.543
Oils	27	22.13	20.43	27.59	0.418
Salt	21	17.21	20.43	6.90	0.092

Source: Primary Data (2022).

Comment [A18]: ANOVA or Pearson's chi-square? Suggested identification

Quality and nutrient content of food purchased by cash beneficiaries from the market.

Proximate analysis of food commodities purchased from the market and community by the cash beneficiaries was carried out to determine the nutrient contents of the food. The analysis focussed on moisture content, dietary fibre, carbohydrates and crude protein levels. The results in Table 2 below showed that the moisture content was 10.95% for maize grains and 10.55% for beans (pulses), which are below the reference values signifying maize and beans were dry and not affected by moisture. While for carbohydrates energy, the maize and beans purchased in the market and/or community was 64.08% and 41.27% respectively, below the reference values implying maize and beans could have been affected in quality given the poor storage facilities of refugees, and for dietary fibre (g/100g.d.m), maize constituted 11.04 g below the recommended value and beans had 5.39g which is within acceptable reference value of between 5.2-7.8g. This implies that maize does not contain a lot of fibre. The refugees are expected to get fibre from the vegetables and other foods that they cultivate. The crude protein was found to be 21.16% in maize and 34.26% (higher than the reference values) in beans that were bought from the market by cash distribution (see table 2 below). For standard food baskets in emergency setting, the total protein is expected between 38-40%. This implies energy and protein requirements in terms of food quality are acceptable. For cooking oil purchased in the market, it was 884kcal (44%), which is expected to provide additional kcal (15-17%) fortified with Vitamin A and others. The SPHETRE guideline and standards indicate 2,100kcal is recommended daily allowance (RDA) in emergencies including refugee situation. For cash beneficiaries just like the food recipient, the main source of energy remains the cereals (maize) which can be supplemented with pulses (beans) as source of protein and the fortified oil as the source of energy and micronutrients like Vitamin A which is bought by cash beneficiaries from the local markets using the cash provided by the humanitarian agencies.

Table 2: Showing the results of the proximate analysis of food purchased by cash beneficiaries

Cash assistance Food purchased by cash recipients (Source: Market)	Food Types					
	Maize	Reference value	Beans	Reference value	Oil	Reference value
Moisture Content (%)	10.95%	13-14%	10.55%	16-17%	0.00%	
Dietary fibre (g/100g.d.m)	11.04g	90g	5.39g	5.2-7.8g	-	
Carbohydrates (%)	64.08%	70-80%	41.27%	70%	-	884kcal (44%)
Crude Protein (%)	21.16%	8-11%	34.26%	15%	-	

Source: Primary Data (2022).

The relationship between cash-based assistance and nutritional outcomes.

Cash distributed to refugees offers them various options to use the money because it creates independence among refugees, supports the development of local markets, and makes them self-reliant. The aim of giving cash assistance is to ensure people can meet their essential food needs. The study findings showed that there is no significant effect of cash assistance on the nutritional outcomes among children under five years as confirmed by a Moderate underweight prevalence of 12.96% (P=0.1714), low stunting level of 15.19% (P=0.0571) below <20% WHO cut off and moderate wasting prevalence of 6.67% at P-value of 0.0634 (see table 3 below). The underweight and wasting prevalences are above <10% and <5% WHO threshold respectively. In terms of severity level of underweight, wasting, and stunting in line with WHO classification as in Table 4 below, out of 15.19% of stunted children 0-59 months, 3.56% of children had severe stunting and 11.63% were moderately stunted (lower than <20% WHO threshold) at a P-value of 0.288. While for underweight, 3.29% of children were severely underweight and 11.90% had moderate underweight out of 12.96% underweight prevalence at P=0.446. Severe and moderate wasting constituted 2.48% and 4.19% in

children respectively at a P-value of 0.062 (see table 4 below). Although these discrepancies in the prevalences of underweight, wasting, and stunting, are not statistically significant, the results show a low prevalence of underweight, stunting, and wasting. The null hypothesis that *“There is no significant effect cash-based assistance on nutrition outcomes among children under five years in selected refugee settlements in West Nile.”* is accepted. There is thus no adequate evidence that cash assistance has a statistically significant association with nutritional outcomes among children under five years. However, in terms of cash amount received, the results indicated that the prevalence of stunting was 10% (P=0.045), 9.50% underweight prevalence (P=0.078), and 14.05% wasting prevalence (P=0.034) among children whose caregivers received cash assistance of between 19,000 to 24,000 Uganda shillings (see table 3 below). However, the variation in prevalences of stunting and wasting are statistically significant for cash amount received, which constituted only 16% of the respondents. Many refugees did not know the exact amount of money received since they received cash assistance every two months. This result demonstrates the need for humanitarian actors to continue giving cash-based assistance to refugees to ensure they can access adequate and variety of food in the market and community for home consumption and integrate food security and livelihood interventions alongside the cash-based assistance modality.

Table 3: Association between cash-based assistance and nutritional outcomes among children under five years in refugee settlements in West Nile.

		Malnutrition		Underweight		Stunting		Wasting	
		%	P-value	%	P-value	%	P-value	%	P-value
Cash assistance	Yes	18.03%	0.2394	8.20%	0.1714	8.20%	0.0571	12.30%	0.0634
	No	23.33%		12.96%		15.19%		6.67%	
Cash amount	Less than 19,000	22%	0.065	8%	0.078	7.70%	0.045	10.60%	0.034
	19,000 to 24,000	16%		10%		9.50%		14.05%	
	25,000 and above	17%		7.60%		8.50%		13.65%	
Cash pattern or frequency	Monthly	11.11%	0.5784	0.00%	0.3558	0.00%	0.3558	11.11%	0.9114
	At least Every two months	18.58%		8.85%		8.85%		12.39%	

Source: Primary Data (2022).

Table 4: Nutritional outcomes classification of the study participants based on the WHO categorization.

Category	Severity Level	Overall	District			P-value.
		%	Adjumani	Obongi	Yumbe	
Stunted (%)	Severe	3.56%	5.16%	2.73%	2.95%	0.288
	Mild/moderate	11.63%	13.89%	5.81%	15.01%	
Underweight (%)	Severe	3.29%	3.07%	5.36%	2.89%	0.446
	Mild/moderate	11.90%	15.98%	3.18%	15.07%	
Wasted (%)	Severe	2.48%	3.45%	4.81%	0.45%	0.062

Comment [A19]: ANOVA or Pearson's chi-square? Suggested identification

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Mild/moderate	4.19%	1.31%	3.73%	5.54%
---------------	-------	-------	-------	-------

Source: Primary Data (2022).

Malnutrition among the refugee communities continues to burden the humanitarian response programs despite the assistance provided to meet their daily food needs and non-food requirements. Children who depend on their caregivers to access food are vulnerable since they cannot take care of themselves. The knowledge of caregivers and child caring practices influence the feeding of the children including children's hygiene and household sanitation.

The respondents' views indicated that the cash assistance provided is little to sustain a household for a full month since food prices are very high and there is limited food in the market. Most markets within the refugee settlements lack varieties of food as a result the same food distributed to the refugees is sold in the market. Additionally, the host communities do not produce adequate food because they do not cultivate extensively. A respondent (R02, FGD Dongo East, 2022) had this to say about the money distributed to the refugees;

"The money given monthly is small, and yet the prices of food items in the markets are very high and increase daily. So, the big challenge facing us as refugees is the high food prices in the market that are not affordable. WFP should increase the amount of money".

Similarly, on the same issue of cash assistance, other respondents submitted that;

"The money given is very little and thus you give money when we don't have footwear, we could choose to buy footwear and leave food. Some people laugh at us when we complain like this. We have nothing, we do not even have plots of land, you have seen our plots, even if we cultivate, the harvest is small. The 19,000 UGX given is very small. The money should be increased to 30,000 or 50,000 UGX to allow us to rent land outside the settlement. Also, other businesses or Income Generating Activities (IGA) for women should be supported" (R05 and R06, FGD, Nyumanzi, 2022).

Despite the continuous humanitarian assistance, refugees have complained about the inadequacy of the money distributed to them given the rising economic situation in the country, lack of adequate food in the market, and skyrocketing food prices that have affected not only the refugees but even the host population who are also vulnerable. Access to land and farm inputs remains a challenge to many refugees due to the selective approach of giving inputs to groups adopted by humanitarian agencies. It was revealed that after the initial input distribution at the time of registration, input distribution after was done to selected groups identified by the implementing partners. This approach has not gained wide acceptance among many refugees since it isolates many refugees from benefiting and moreover, everyone is vulnerable as a refugee. Livelihood support should be extended to all refugees.

5.0 Discussions

To provide effective humanitarian assistance for conflicted affected populations, donor and humanitarian agencies are shifting from in-kind assistance to cash-based assistance. In West Nile refugee settlements, out of the total respondents, only 31.12% of them are on cash-based assistance, receiving between 19,000 to 24,000 Uganda shillings at a P-value of 0.000 as compared to 68.88% of caregivers who were on food in-kind assistance (dry food rations) in line with the progressive food and nutrition Policy (UFNP) adopted in 2003 which provides for the right to adequate food (Rukundo, 2014). The amount of cash and the frequency of distribution depends on household size, determined by the number of people within the household (Hoddinott, 2020),

(Agnes, 1993). A Pearson's chi-square test revealed that children 0-59 months from households that received cash assistance had moderate underweight prevalence of 12.96% ($P=0.1714$), low stunting level of 15.19% ($P=0.0571$) below <20% WHO cut off and moderate wasting prevalence of 6.67% at P -value of 0.0634. The underweight and wasting prevalences are above <10% and <5% WHO threshold respectively. The variation in prevalences of underweight, stunting, and wasting are not statistically significant. The null hypothesis that "There is no significant effect cash-based assistance on nutrition outcomes among children under five years in selected refugee settlements in West Nile." is accepted. There is thus no adequate evidence that cash assistance has no statistically significant association with nutritional outcomes among children under five years. However, according to WHO classifications, the prevalence of wasting is higher than WHO thresholds of <5%, classified as critical. As supported by House et al., (2002), the presence of underweight, overweight, and micronutrient deficiencies indicate malnutrition. Based on the anthropometric measurements, the study found that 0.77% of children 0-59 months were severely malnourished with MUAC of <11.5 cm, 4.59% of them had moderate malnutrition with MUAC of between 11.5 to <12.5 cm, and the majority (94.64%) of children were normal (no malnourished) with MUAC of more than 12.5 cm. Although many of the children aged 0-59 months were healthy, these results demonstrate that malnutrition remains a problem among the refugee population, hence there is need to scale up preventive and curative nutrition services at both the community and health facilities and increase awareness on nutritional issues among caregivers of children 0-59 months. Malnutrition remains a burden among the refugee population due to inadequate intake of dietary foods and insufficient intake. Galloway, (2017) stated that malnutrition can result in adverse health outcomes and reduced quality of life. Good nutrition is essential for human health and survival (Grijalva-Eternod et al., 2012). Children's growth and development are dependent on the intake of adequate and nutritious foods at the right time and in quantities.

Anthropometric characteristic measures by age showed that there is a slight difference in the mean age and standard deviation of children 0-59 months and overall mean age of 32.18 months and a standard deviation of 8.99. While the mean weight of 11.04kg (SD 5.45) falls in the expected range of 11.9-17.1 for children 32 months of age and the mean length/height of 80.01cm (Standard deviation 24.01) falls slightly below the expected range of 86.8 -100.0cm for the average age of 32 months. The differences or deviations from the expected WHO growth standards could be attributed largely to measurement errors during the field data collection. Evidence has shown that poor access to particularly healthy food and insufficient food intake causes undernutrition as well as overweight and obesity (Grijalva-Eternod et al., 2012; Harto, 1993). A diet deficient in macronutrients such as protein, carbohydrates, and fats or deficient in key micronutrients both lead to "wasting" (Office of the Prime Minister of Uganda, 2019). The above statistics clearly show moderate underweight and high wasting are high among children in households receiving cash.

For stunting, the prevalence of 9.50% ($P=0.045$) which is below WHO threshold of <20%. Although stunting prevalence is within the acceptable range, it remains a problem in children 0-59 months. As supported by UBOS et al., (2019), 10% to 20% of children 0-59 months were stunted in the districts of Adjumani, Kole, Moyo, Omoro, and Otuke while in the districts of Nebbi, Pader, Yumbe, and Koboko districts, 20% to 30% of children 0-59 months were stunted. Malnutrition is a result of inadequate diets, poor food quality, and severe or repeated diseases that undermine the health, growth, and development of children (Iffat Iddris, 2020; UNICEF., 2019; Krishnamani, 2015; WHO, 1997, 2015c; GoU, 2011). Despite the various interventions implemented, little progress made in reducing stunting prevalence in Africa since 2012 (UNHCR, 2017). That is why, Uganda still faces numerous undernutrition challenges, malnutrition, and poor health which are significant risks for young children (Galloway, 2017; UNHCR, 2017b), which in turn increases a child's risk of morbidity and

mortality (House et al., 2002; Lean, 2015; Simelane & Worth, 2020). Therefore, to meet the food and nutritional needs of children more effectively, planning humanitarian assistance be participatory, involving women in the process of determining the appropriate food and nutritional needs of the affected population.

These findings agreed with evidence generated by a report of the Ministry of Health of Uganda, where the highest prevalence of moderate acute malnutrition is 10.4%, and 5.6% for severe acute malnutrition is found in the refugee settlements in West Nile sub-region higher than WHO targets of < 5% for wasting in children (GoU, 2011b). These results are similar to the findings by Henry, (2014), who found a high underweight prevalence of 63.8% and 13.3% in refugee children 6-59 months in Adjumani, Arua and Kiryandongo districts. The decision on the use of cash received is dependent on the individual household and family members within the household. The members of the households decide on how to spend the money they receive monthly.

Although refugees receive food assistance upon arrival and registration, some refugees later are voluntarily transferred to cash transfer programs in some settlements (Canteli, 2012). The refugees voluntarily choose to enroll in a cash transfer program instead of dry food rations. This decision aligns with the European Commission policy guideline which states that refugees have the option to be on cash transfer or receive food in-kind assistance (Commission, 2013). Few refugees have enrolled in cash-based transfer modality in West Nile compared to those on food in-kind as evidenced by the findings above. The refugees that are on a cash transfer modality have reported insufficient amounts of cash and lack of variety of food in the market in addition to high food prices, making them unable to buy adequate food, hence their children are prone to malnutrition and other diseases. As supported by the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), cash transfers (CT) for affected populations significantly contribute to improving food diversity and diets (FAO, 2012). Cash is considered the most effective type of response because it empowers the recipients and results in self-reliance. The differences in the prevalence of malnutrition could be associated with the fact that refugees invest some of the cash in business, and other domestic activities/items like buying clothes, firewood, utensils, treatment in the clinics, etc. This is in line with what Zhu and colleagues found in their study that many refugees on cash transfer programs, invest some of their cash in agricultural or livestock production in their allocated plots (Zhu, 2016). The use of cash for other activities by the refugees other than food is also supported by Hidrobo et al., (2012), who stated that cash recipients save a small share of the cash or money received for later use and spend a small portion on non-food items while food recipients tend to share their transfer with friends or family or save their transfer for later use. Beneficiaries of cash transfers as well as dry food recipients reported that they use part of the cash or sell part of the food received to meet their non-food items needs which include among others buying clothes for the children, buying household items, paying school fees, buying firewood or charcoal for cooking, buying medicine that are not available in the health facilities and many others.

Access to the market by refugees is one of the parameters used to decide the roll-out of the cash transfer program by the Humanitarian agencies. It is expected that cash beneficiaries should be able to buy foods from the markets. This study found that the majority (63.01%) of caregivers of children under five years in refugee settlements had access to the market within and outside the refugee settlements in less than 30 minutes with significantly different proportions of caregivers in Adjumani, Obongi, and Yumbe refugee settlements at a P-value of $0.000 < 0.05$ of caregivers who accessed market in within 30 minutes. These findings conform with WFP report, which indicated that due to the increasing number of cash beneficiaries in most settlements, food prices have continued to increase, affecting beneficiaries purchasing power (WFP, 2016b). Further, an increase in food

Comment [A20]: Are there data to compare with this? It's a good point to discussion

prices is one of the challenges faced by humanitarian agencies and beneficiaries (Efe, 2018). Due to the economic crisis, food prices are relatively high in the settlements, since there is limited food within the settlements and host communities.

Concerning the nutritional knowledge of cash beneficiaries, this study found that the majority (62.24%) of the caregivers of children under five years in refugee settlements in West Nile had poor nutritional knowledge at a P-value of 0.000 compared to only 37.76% of caregivers having good knowledge in nutrition. This is in agreement with the study that found that 75.5% have poor knowledge of nutrition unlike in Rwanda, where more than half (53.6%) of refugee women in Kigeme Refugee Camp, had high nutrition knowledge and 71.8% of them had poor nutrition practices with 67.2% of the refugee women have negative attitudes on nutrition (Iradykunda, 2011). The education levels of mothers and caretakers play a key in ensuring appropriate use of cash received and younger children are fed appropriately with the right types of food and quantities. Nutrition education is of central importance for achieving nutrition improvement (Berti et al., 2004). According to the Uganda Bureau of Standards (UBOS), mothers and caregivers who are educated, are likely to feed their children better and so the prevalence of stunting and wasting significantly reduced (UBOS, 2017).

For food storage and feeding practices, the study found that 93.62% of the caregivers of children under five years in refugee settlements in West Nile had basic food storage facilities for storing food and 69.29% of caregivers had good child feeding practices and only 30.71% of them reported having poor child feeding practices. The good child feeding practices include among others; feeding a child 3 times a day, initiation of breastfeeding within the first hour of life, exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months, breastfeeding on demand, as often as the child wants, day and night, no use of bottle for feeding the child, use of good and safe food preparation practices, introduction of solid, semisolid or soft foods at 6 months and continued breastfeeding up to 2 years. It is a general understanding that caregivers with a good level of education are more likely to have better child feeding practices. Although refugees store the food using locally improvised pallets or raised platforms or use empty jerrican, drums sacks, etc. The small temporary houses for refugees in the settlements lack proper and adequate spaces for food storage and this may explain why food storage is poor among the refugees. When Poor storage of food significantly affects nutrient contents, taste, and colour of food making it unpalatable and denatured.

6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

Cash-based assistance insignificantly influenced the nutritional outcomes among children evidenced by the low prevalence of stunting, moderate underweight, and moderate wasting prevalence. Cash-based assistance indirectly impacts the nutritional status of children and tends to increase household access to diverse foods and non-food items. The humanitarian partners should continue to provide cash-based assistance, create more awareness about CBT, and consider integrating it with food security and livelihood activities to promote food production and productivity among the refugees.

Limited knowledge of nutrition issues among the refugees greatly affects childcaring practices, food storage, and food preparation practices including personal hygiene and household sanitation. Therefore, in general, childcaring practices and food management practices be strengthened among caregivers of children and the entire refugee community. Access to markets and food commodities by cash beneficiaries remains low due to limited food in the market, high food prices, and low host communities' food production and productivity.

Recommendations

Despite the low prevalence of malnutrition, humanitarian actors should increase and continue to provide cash assistance and integrate food security and livelihood interventions to increase household food security and income and food diversification. Humanitarian agencies and the Government should advocate for additional resources for cash-based modality and food security and livelihood programs for both the refugees and the host community.

To improve child caring practices and food management practices of caregivers and the community, humanitarian agencies should scale up community mobilization and sensitization on nutrition matters to improve the knowledge and skills of caregivers of children including the community and promote good hygiene and sanitation practices.

Government and humanitarian agencies should support and develop local markets and businesses dealing in food production, food supply chain, and value addition to ensure food is readily available for cash beneficiaries and the host community. Refugee and host community agricultural activities be strengthened including the supply of farm inputs to increase food production and productivity.

Limitations of the study and Future areas of study

The study experienced some limitations for instance accessing refugee settlements required a long approval process from the Office of Prime Minister in Kampala, Arua, Obongi, and Adjumani in addition to clearance by the settlement commandants in the field locations.

Based on the refugee settlement structure, refugee leaders are supposed to be involved in all activities taking place in the settlements, so the involvement of refugee leaders in leading research teams required additional finances that were not planned for by the researcher.

Interviews took a lot of time and resources; During the focus group discussions, some members were too shy to share their views while others over-dominated the discussions since they had valuable information pertaining to the topics; and the use of mixed methods delayed the data collection process as it took a lot of time as well as analysis of data.

The areas identified for future research that were not addressed by this study but are very vital in understanding the impact of humanitarian assistance on the health outcomes of refugees and their welfare include, (1) the impact of school feeding programs on the nutrition status of young children, the impact of cash assistance on gender-based violence, the impact of refugees on host community land use and agricultural production, and finally, assess the relationship between refugee household food security and gender-based violence among refugees in West Nile.

Consent

Informed consent was obtained from all research participants using the approved informed consent protocol. Confidentiality and privacy of respondents were maintained, and data was collected with the permission of the respondents.

Data availability:

The data presented in the manuscript is available on request.

Comment [A21]: as this was a cross-sectional study, suggest other types of long-term study

Ethical Considerations

In conformity with the principles of research, this study received approval from the Gulu University ethics committee (Protocol reference GUREC-2021-108) and Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (UNCST) - reference- HS1912ES. Approval was also obtained from the Office of the Prime Minister (OPM) reference-OPM/R/107, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), the World Food Programme (WFP), and district local Government authorities (see attached letters) to undertake the study in the refugee settlements and access the research participants. Research participants were given incentives for their time and participation in line with the National Guidelines for Research involving Humans as Research Participants, 2014 of UNCST, and the approved research protocol (Protocol reference GUREC-2021-108).

Reference

References

- Guli, A. E., Barakagira, A., & Zombeire, R. (2023, February 4). Humanitarian Food Assistance and Nutrition Outcomes among Refugees: A Historical Perspective. *Journal of Scientific Research and Reports, Volume 29*(Issue 1), Page 26-37. doi:10.9734/JSRR/2023/v29i11723
- Nabugoomu, J., Namutebi, A., Kaaya, A., & Nasinyama, G. (2015, March 12). Nutrition Education Influences Child Feeding Knowledge Attitudes and Practices of Caregivers in Uganda. *American Journal of Health Research, Vol. 3*(No. 2). doi:10.11648/j.ajhr.20150302.15
- (YLG), Y. D. (2015). *Yumbe District Second Development Plan (DDPII), 2015/2016- 2019/20*. Retrieved from <https://yumbe.go.ug/sites/default/files/publications/District%20Development%20Plan-5%20year.pdf>
- Agnes, C. (1993). *The Political Dynamics of Refugee Food. 13*(6). doi: <https://doi.org/10.25071/1920-7336.21755>
- Ali, N. B. (2019). Association of food security and other socioeconomic factors with dietary diversity and nutritional statuses of children aged 6-59 months in rural Bangladesh. *PLoS ONE, 14*(8), 1–18. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221929>
- Bailey, S. &. (2013, May). The impact of cash transfers on food consumption in humanitarian settings: a review of evidence. Canadian Foodgrains Bank. a review of evidence. Canadian Food grains Bank, May. <https://www.alnap.org/system/files/content/resource/files/main/cfgb-impact-of-c.> *Canadian Food grains Bank*. Retrieved from a review of evidence. <https://www.alnap.org/system/files/content/resource/files/main/cfgb-impact-of-cash-transfers-on-food-consumption-may-2013.pdf>
- Caiafa, K. D.-K. (2019, October 21, 2017,). Food Aid for Nutrition: Narrative Review of Major Research Topics Presented at a Scientific Symposium Held October 21, 2017, at the 21st International Congress of Nutrition in Buenos Aires, Argentina. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 40*(1), 111–123. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1177/0379572118817951>
- Canteli, C. M. (2012). *Synthesis of Mixed Method Impact Evaluations of the Contribution of Food Assistance to Durable Solutions in Protracted Refugee Situations*. Synthesis Evaluation, December 2012, 30.

Comment [A22]: Review all references

Comment [A23]: I suggest standardising by using acronyms and full names, for example World Food Programme - WFP, World Health Organisation - WHO.

- Chege, P. M., & Kuria, E. N. (2017, February 8). Relationship Between Nutrition Knowledge of Caregivers and Dietary Practices of Children Under Five in Kajiado County, Kenya. *Women's Health Bulletin*, 4(3), 1-5. doi:: 10.5812/whb.43820.
- Commission, E. (2013, November). Thematic Policy Document No. 1: Humanitarian Food Assistance. *European Commission. (2013). Thematic Policy Document No. 1: Humanitarian Food Assistance. November.*
http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/food_assistance/them_policy_doc_foodassistance_en.pdf. Retrieved from European Commission. (2013). Thematic Policy Document No. 1: Humanitarian Food Assistance. http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/policies/food_assistance/them_policy_doc_foodassistance_en.pdf
- D. Legason, I. &. (2018b). Prevalence of acute malnutrition among children ages 6-59 months: Results from a baseline nutrition survey in North-Western Uganda. *Journal of Nutrition and Human Health*, 02(01), 6–12. . doi: <https://doi.org/10.35841/nutrit>
- Dawson-Hahn, E. E.-G. (2016). Comparison of the nutritional status of overseas refugee children with low-income children in Washington State. *PLoS ONE*, 11(1). doi:<https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147854>
- FAO. (2012). *FAO voucher-for-work beneficiaries repair terraces and receive their vouchers in Mutwaathi, Kenya*. FAO. Retrieved from www.fao.org/publications
- FAO. (2018). Food Security, Resilience and Well-Being Analysis of Refugees and Host Communities in Northern Uganda. Retrieved from <https://doi.org/10.11975/j.issn.1002-6819.2015.24.025>
- Forth, G., Apprey, C., & Agyapong, N. A. F. (2022, June 28). Nutritional knowledge and practices of mothers/caregivers and its impact on the nutritional status of children 6–59 months in Sefwi Wiawso Municipality, Western-North Region, Ghana. *Heliyon*. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e12330>
- Gelli, A. &. (2018). The impact of remittances on household food security. ReSAKSS Annual Trends and Outlook Report.
- Global Nutrition cluster, U. (2017). *Moderate Acute Malnutrition: A Decision Tool for Emergencies*. UNICEF Nutrition Cluster, June, 1–31. UNICEF Nutrition Cluster. Retrieved from <https://reliefweb.int>
- GOU. (2011.). *UGANDA NUTRITION ACTION PLAN 2011-2016: Scaling Up Multi-Sectoral Efforts to Establish a Strong Nutrition Foundation for Uganda's Development*. GOU.
- GoU. (2011b). *UGANDA NUTRITION ACTION PLAN 2011-2016: Scaling Up Multi-Sectoral Efforts to Establish a Strong Nutrition Foundation for Uganda's Development*. Government of Uganda, 56.
- Government, A. D. (2015). *ADJUMANI DISTRICT FIVE-YEAR DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT PLAN (2015/2016–2019/2020). Implement Socio- Economic Development Programmes for Improved and Sustained Quality of Life*. Retrieved from <http://npa.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/ADJUMANI-DISTRICT-DDPII-2015-2016-to-2019-2020.pdf>
- Henry, W. (2014). *Food Security and Nutrition Assessment among South Sudanese Refugees in Adjumani, Arua and Kiryandongo districts, New Caseload*. In Makerere University College of Health Sciences.
- Hidrobo, M. H. (2012). Impact Evaluation of Cash, Food Vouchers, and Food Transfers among Colombian Refugees and Poor Ecuadorians in Carchi and Sucumbíos.

- Hoddinott, J. D. (2020). Food transfers, electronic food vouchers and child nutritional status among Rohingya children living in Bangladesh. *PLoS ONE*, 15(4). doi:<https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.023045>
- Humphrey Wanzira, R. M. (2018, July 17). Quality of care for children with acute malnutrition at health center level in Uganda: a cross sectional study in West Nile region during the refugee crisis. *BMC Health Services Research*. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3366-5>
- Idris, I. (2020). Integrated approaches to refugee management in Uganda. Helpdesk Report 716. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies. <https://ugandarefugees.org/en/country/uga>. UK: *Institute of Development Studies*. Retrieved from <https://ugandarefugees.org/en/country/uga>
- Iradukunda, D. &. (2011). Knowledge, Attitude and Practices towards Nutrition and Influencing Factors among Pregnant and Lactating Women in Kigeme Refugee Camp, Rwanda. In Galore International Journal of Health Sciences and Research (Vol. 5, Issue 2). *Galore International Journal of Health Sciences and Research (Vol. 5. Issue 2)*. . doi: <https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.jada.2011.06.005>
- Karuhanga, S. (2018). Comparison of nutritional status of children aged 6–59 months between households receiving unconditional cash transfers and those receiving dry food rations in Rwamwanja refugee settlement, Uganda: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Global Health*. doi:[https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x\(18\)30178-5](https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30178-5)
- Krishnamani, P. (2015). *Undernutrition in Refugee Children Nutrition in Camp Settings Nutrition after Resettlement*. 2010, 4–7.
- Lazzerini, M. W. (2020). Quality of healthcare for children with severe acute malnutrition in a refugee setting: Cross-sectional study in West Nile Region, Uganda. *BMJ Open*, 10(6), 1–11. doi: <https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034738>
- Motebejana, T. T., Nesamvuni, C. N., & Mbhenyane. (2022, January 1). Nutrition Knowledge of Caregivers Influences Feeding Practices and Nutritional Status of Children 2 to 5 Years Old in Sekhukhune District, South Africa. *Ethiopian journal of health sciences*, 32(1), 103., Vol. 32(No. 1). doi:<http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/ejhs.v32i1.12>
- Mozaffarian, D. R. (2018). History of modern nutrition science-implications for current research, dietary guidelines, and food policy. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k2392>
- Mundy, D. (2002, February). A Question of Response Rate. (Science, Ed.) Vol 25(No 1 • 25), 25-26. Retrieved February 6, 2023, from <https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=83dcbf8a31b16eea1e00c6ee786069e0a53f28f>
- Nicholas, C. S. (Nicholas, C. S. O., & Kerrie, H. C. L. (2019). The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework. September. <https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12937.pdf>. *The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework*. September. Retrieved from <https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12937.pdf>
- Olson, C. M. (1999). Nutrition and Health Outcomes Associated with Food Insecurity and Hunger. *American Society for Nutritional Sciences*. Retrieved February 23, 2021, from Downloaded from <https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/129/2/521S/4731685>
- Peter, S. E., Aliyu, H. S., & Hassan, S. R. (2019, March 30). Nutrition Assessment and Factors Influencing Malnutrition among Children under Five in Adjumani District Uganda. *Journal of*

Advances in Medicine and Medical Research(29(3): 1-7, 2019).
doi:10.9734/JAMMR/2019/v29i330074

- Robson, M. B. (2000). Measurement of dietary intake in children. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. Retrieved March 10 , 2021, from <https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms>.
<https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665100000318>
- Rukundo, P. M. (2014). Food as a human right during disasters in Uganda. *Food Policy*, 49(P1), 312–322. *Food Policy*, 49(P1), 312–322. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.09.009>
- UBOS. (2017). *Uganda Demographic and Health Survey 2016: Key Indicators Report*. Kampala, Uganda: UBOS, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: UBOS and ICF. 4. UBOS. Retrieved from www.ubos.org.
- UIA. (2017). *ADJUMANI DISTRICT INVESTMENT PROFILE*. UIA. Retrieved from <https://www.ugandainvest.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Adjumani-for-web.pdf>
- UIA. (2020). *YUMBE DISTRICT INVESTMENT PROFILE*. Retrieved from <https://vdocuments.mx/yumbe-district-investment-profile-yumbe-district-investment-profile-3-geography.html?page=3>; <http://www.ugandainvest.go.ug>;
- UNDP. (2017b). United Nations Development Programme SUMMARY OF STUDY. Retrieved from www.ug.undp.org
- UNHCR. (2018c). *Uganda: Joint Multi- Sector Needs Assessment. Identifying humanitarian needs among refugee and host community populations in Uganda. August, 114*. UNHCR. Retrieved from website: www.reach-initiative.org.
- UNHCR. (2019b). *UGANDA COUNTRY REFUGEE RESPONSE PLAN*. Retrieved from https://www.google.com/search?q=Refugee+response+in+Uganda&rlz=1C1JZAP_enUG825UG825&oq=Refugee+response+in+Uganda&aqs=chrome..69157j0i22i30i4.10830j1j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8
- UNHCR. (2020b). *Uganda - Refugee Statistics April 2020. Report*. UNHCR. Retrieved from <https://data2.unhcr.org>,
- UNHCR. (2020d). *UNHCR UGA_Monthly Operational Update_July 2020_*. UNHCR. Retrieved from www.unhcr.org
- UNHCR. (2021). *Refugees and Asylum-Seekers in Uganda Countries of origin Refugees per location Uganda Refugee Response*. UNHCR. Retrieved from www.ugandarefugees.org
- UNHCR. (2018a). *COMPREHENSIVE REFUGEE RESPONSE FRAMEWORK: THE UGANDA MODE*.
- UNICEF. (2019). *The State of the World's Children 2019. Children, Food and Nutrition: Growing well in a changing world*. UNICEF, New York. New York: UNICEF.
- USAID. (2019). *Food Assistance Fact Sheet*. . (1).
- van den Briel, T. (2006). *Malnutrition in Protracted Refugee Situations: A Global Case Study UNHCR/WFP. A Joint UNHCR and WFP Review, January 2006, 1–14*. UNHCR. Retrieved from <https://www.unhcr.org/45fe62642.pdf>
- WFP. (2016b). *WFP Uganda Country Brief. May, 2*. WFP.
- WFP. (2017b). *World Food Programme Cash-based transfers for delivering food assistance*. World Food Programme. World Food Programme. Retrieved from www.wfp.org/cash-based-transfers

- WFP. (2022). *Thematic Evaluation of Supply Chain Outcomes in the food systems in Eastern Africa from 2016 to 2021*. WFP. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000143985/download/?_ga=2.137429619.2107701230.1675058749-396090700.1564554110&_gac=1.36818836.1675058844.EAlalQobChMly7aig9Du_AIVIKnVCh3ragC0EAAYASAAEgKttvD_BwE
- WFP. (2023). *Strategic Evaluation of WFP'S work on nutrition and HIV/AIDS*. WFP. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000146143/download/?_ga=2.151785338.2107701230.1675058749-396090700.1564554110&_gac=1.182642322.1675058844.EAlalQobChMly7aig9Du_AIVIKnVCh3ragC0EAAYASAAEgKttvD_BwE
- WHO. (1997). *WHO Global Database on Child Growth and Malnutrition. Programme of Nutrition World Health Organization Geneva*. Nutrition . Geneva: WHO.
- WHO. (2015c). *IMPROVING NUTRITION OUTCOMES WITH BETTER WATER, SANITATION AND HYGIENE: PRACTICAL SOLUTIONS FOR POLICIES AND PROGRAMMES*. WHO. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3623700>
- World Food Programme. . WFP Strategic Plan. July, 1.–5. (2017). *World Food Programme. (2017). WFP Strategic Plan. July, 1–58*. https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000019573/download/?_ga=2.236942023.79184737.1518904482-139700886.1518904482. WFP. Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000019573/download/?_ga=2.236942023.79184737.1518904482-139700886.1518904482
- YDLG. (2020). *YUMBE DISTRICT INVESTMENT PROFILE*. Retrieved from <https://vdocuments.mx/yumbe-district-investment-profile-yumbe-district-investment-profile-3-geography.html?page=3>; <http://www.ugandainvest.go.ug>;
- Youfa Wang, M. E. (2001, December 19). Tracking of Dietary Intake Patterns of Chinese from Childhood to Adolescence over a Six-Year Follow-Up Period. *American Society for Nutritional Sciences*. Retrieved March 10, 2021, from <https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/132/3/430/4687319>
- Zhu, H. F. (2016). *Economic Impact of Refugee Settlements in Uganda**. November.